**Statement of Facts**

1. Defendant Christopher M. Frye was charged with grand larceny in the Magistrate Court of Logan County, West Virginia, on October 24, 2003, for an incident that allegedly occurred on July 14, 2003.
2. Attorney Michael Esposito, of the Logan law firm of Esposito & Esposito, was appointed as counsel for the Defendant by order entered December 18, 2003.
3. The defense and trial was handled on behalf of Christopher Frye by Attorney Thomas Esposito of the same law firm of Esposito & Esposito in Logan, West Virginia.
4. Christopher Frye was indicted for grand larceny at the May 2004 term of the Circuit Court of Logan County, West Virginia.
5. A jury trial was held in this matter on August 17 and 18, 2004, in the Circuit Court of Logan County, West Virginia.

6. Christopher Frye was found guilty by that jury of grand larceny as charged.
7. Co-defendant Robert Fields pleaded guilty to grand larceny before the trial of the Appellant and testified against the Appellant at the said trial.
8. The Appellant was sentenced to not less than one nor more than ten years in the West Virginia State Penitentiary by order entered October 15, 2004.
9. The said sentencing order was amended by order entered October 27, 2004.
10. Attorney Thomas Esposito filed a "Notice of Intent to Appeal" with the Clerk of the Circuit Court of Logan County, West Virginia, on November 3, 2004.
11. Attorney John W. Bennett was appointed as counsel for the Appellant by order entered November 22, 2004.
12. An "Appellant Transcript Request" was filed in this matter on December 13, 2004.
13. By order entered January 24, 2005, the time within which the Appellant may file his petition to appeal was extended by an additional sixty days due to the fact that the transcript of the trial had not yet been completed.
14. The transcript of the trial was received on or about March 15, 2005.
15. The Petition for Appeal in this case was filed on April 6, 2005.
16. The Petition for Appeal was granted by this court by order entered May 9, 2005.
17. Christopher Frye has remained incarcerated pursuant to the said conviction.

#### Assignments of Error

1. Ineffective assistance of counsel.
2. Failure to adequately question prospective jurors and especially so in view of the response of Juror McCoy.

## Authorities Relied Upon

### Argument No. 1 – Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

The ineffective assistance of counsel is governed by the two-prong test established by Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984), which states as follows:

1. Counsel's performance was deficient under an objective standard of reasonableness and
2. There is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result from the proceedings would have been different. State v. Miller, 194 W.Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995).

In reviewing counsel's performance, court's must apply an objective standard and determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the broad range of professionally competent assistance while at the same time refraining from engaging in hindsight or second guessing of trial counsel's strategic decisions. Thus, a reviewing court asks whether a reasonable lawyer would have acted, under the circumstances, as defense counsel acted in the case at issue. State ex rel Vernatter v. Warden, West Virginia Penitentiary, 207 W.Va. 11, 528 S.E.2d 207 (1999). This Court in State v. Thomas, 157 W.Va. 640, 203 S.E.2d 445 (1974) stated that "counsel's actions are to be held ineffective only if no reasonable attorney would have so acted under the circumstances of the case."

The right of an accused to be represented by counsel includes the constitutional right to "effective assistance" of counsel. See The Constitution of West Virginia, Article III, Section 14, and State ex rel. Levitt v. Bordenkircher, 176 W.Va. 162, 342 S.E.2d 127 (1986).

The question then becomes did Attorney Thomas Esposito act as a reasonable lawyer would have acted under the circumstances when representing Mr. Frye at trial in this action. The undersigned believes that the actions of Attorney Thomas Esposito are not what a reasonable

lawyer would have done under the same circumstances at least in the following most noticeable areas:

A. **Failure to cross-examine State's witnesses.** A most glaring deficiency in the defense provided by counsel was his refusal to ask even one question of any of the State's witnesses. The State presented nine witnesses in its case against this defendant. They included investigating officers, alleged victims, neighbors and a co-defendant. Counsel did not ask even one question of any of the State's witnesses. While some might argue that it is strategy, no reasonable attorney would agree especially when the co-defendant was the **only** witness who placed the defendant at the crime scene, the co-defendant had a prior criminal record and admittedly was drunk at the time of the crime. See page 98, line 12, of the trial transcript of August 17, 2004. None of those areas were explored during cross-examination by counsel for the defense.

Cross-examination of the remaining State's witnesses to enforce the fact that they had no direct evidence to tie the defendant to the crime could and should have been explored and presented clearly to the jury for its consideration.

Cross-examination of the investigating officers to make it clear that the only evidence they had tying this Defendant to the crime was the statement of the co-defendant should have been pursued and highlighted for the jury.

B. **Time of the crime.** The issue of just when the crime occurred was material in view of the defense presented on behalf of Mr. Frye. He did present two alibi witnesses to indicate that he was home on the night in question but both indicated there was a time period when they were asleep and he could have left the house, committed the crime, and returned. The case went to the jury with these "holes" in the alibi, which was highlighted by the prosecutor. Cross-examination of the State's witnesses should have been explored to pin down

the time frame within which the crime occurred. This could have minimized the counter-argument of the prosecutor and strengthened the alibi. It was not even explored.

Further cross-examination of the investigating officers to pin down the problems they had in determining the guilty should have been pursued. No arrests occurred until several months after the crime took place. The officers should have been quizzed on their efforts in the interim, the names of suspects outside of this defendant, the manner in which they pursued their investigation, the fact that they took physical evidence from the scene and ultimately from this defendant, and yet there were no test results or other evidence of any type that linked this defendant to the crime.

C. **Only one eye witness.** Even though the co-defendant was the only State's witness that linked this defendant to the crime, the prosecutor was permitted to ask numerous leading questions of the co-defendant. Instead of objecting and thereby requiring the co-defendant to tell his own version of what happened rather than that provided through the statements of the prosecutor, defense counsel inexplicably stated in open court in front of the jury that he had no objection and the prosecutor should go ahead and lead him and tell him what the prosecutor wanted him to say! The prosecutor promptly did lead him through the rest of his entire testimony. See page 109, line 14, of the transcript of August 17, 2004.

D. **Motions for directed verdict.** At the conclusion of the State's evidence, defense counsel not only failed to move for a directed verdict but advised the court that "I have no motions, judge. I am not going to waste your time." See page 124 of the transcript of August 17, 2004.

Likewise, when both sides finished presentation of their evidence, defense counsel failed to proceed with a motion for directed verdict.

What type of a defense strategy would include these errors? How could the actions of defense counsel possibly have assisted in presenting the defense? No reasonable lawyer would have failed to argue the motion for directed verdict at the conclusion of the evidence and at the conclusion of the State's evidence. These are argued out of the presence of the jury and in no way could possibly adversely affect the case for the defense. The failure to move for a directed verdict was one of the failures of counsel held to be ineffective by this Court in State v. Thomas, supra.

Without doing any cross examination of **any** of the State's nine witnesses, the defense leaves the impression that it does not question anything those witnesses have said and that it is satisfied with that testimony. Instead, numerous questions could and should have been asked to make certain that the jury was well aware of the role played by each witness, what little they knew about the alleged involvement of the defendant, their failure to gather evidence properly and run tests available on it, or for that matter even what tests could have been run, the fact that no individual placed the defendant at the crime scene other than the co-defendant, explored the extent of the drunkenness of the co-defendant at the time of the crime, pin down exactly when the crime occurred to assist the defendant in his alibi, question the co-defendant as to his own criminal record so that the jury would know that the co-defendant had a prior criminal record when considering his testimony (see Rule 609(a)(2)(A) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence), objected and required the prosecution to make their witnesses testify from their own knowledge as opposed to being led through the case by the prosecution, and question prospective jurors in a voir dire process, which is more thoroughly described below.

In essence, trial counsel did little to present the defendant's side of the case in a light most favorable to the defendant. While he did, on the second day of trial, offer two alibi witnesses and a third witness who had been approached by the co-defendant, the

questioning was extremely brief and, as mentioned above, since the time of the crime was not specifically pinned down, mostly ineffective. The testimony of those three defense witnesses, **including cross examination by the prosecutor**, consist of a mere 19-pages of transcript. The entire defense, other than the testimony of the defendant himself, was 19 pages of transcript in a two-day trial!

Instead, defense counsel told the jury repeatedly, from opening statement through the closing argument, that he would be “brief” and move the case along.

The bottom line is that anyone of these matters clearly shows that the court-appointed defense attorney did not act as a reasonable lawyer would or should have acted under the circumstances when providing a defense to Mr. Frye in this case. Furthermore, the overall effect of his failure to so act on each of these matters proved devastating to the defense and certainly did not provide the effective assistance of counsel for Mr. Frye as guaranteed to him by the Constitution of this state.

**Argument No. 2 – Failure to adequately question prospective jurors  
and especially so in view of the response of Juror McCoy.**

Transcript of the trial clearly indicates that counsel for the defendant never asked one question on voir dire. While the prosecution did ask to question some of the prospective jurors individually, even then counsel for the defense never pursued any questioning of his own. Furthermore, he did not provide any written list of questions he wanted the judge to ask prospective jurors. Sometime, this may not be so significant, but it certainly was in this case.

When one reviews the transcript of the August 17, 2004, first day of the trial in this case, beginning specifically at page 8, one can see how devastating the failure to provide any voir dire questioning by the defense was to Mr. Frye. Specifically, when **all** of the prospective jurors were being questioned by the court as to whether or not they were related by blood or marriage

to defendant Christopher Frye or whether they knew him from any business or close social relationship, Prospective Juror McCoy stated as follows:

“I know the **reputation** of him.”

“I know the **reputation that follows him.**”

Arguably, with such comments by a prospective juror in open court in front of all of the prospective jurors, even if he was meaning to be complimentary to the defendant, it is obvious counsel needs to inquire as to just what “reputation” the prospective juror is talking about. From what source did he learn about any such reputation? Defense counsel should have asked for the opportunity to question that prospective juror individually pursuant to West Virginia Code, Chapter 56, Article 6, Section 12.

What effect did such comment by this prospective juror in open court have on the remaining prospective jurors? No effort was made by the court or defense counsel to make that determination. To have a fair trial, it was imperative on all the officers of the court to make that determination. Certainly, it was incumbent upon defense counsel to explore that point thoroughly.

Instead, Juror McCoy remained in the jury pool in the courtroom with the other prospective jurors **while the court and the prosecutor questioned at least seven other prospective jurors individually.** Not only did defense counsel not participate in that questioning, but Juror McCoy was still among the remaining jury-pool members. How can one be certain that Juror McCoy did not discuss his knowledge of the “reputation” of the defendant with one or more of those members at that time? He was not questioned further by anyone, and he was not instructed at that point not to mention anything to the remaining prospective jurors. Were the court and counsel in front of the entire prospective jury during the entire time the other

seven were questioned, or were they taken back to chambers thereby allowing Juror McCoy additional time to speak with other prospective jurors?

Clearly, the reputation issue and its possible effect on the other jury members had to be explored. Failure to explore that by defense counsel was a critical error, and we most likely will never know whether it had an adverse effect on this jury verdict or not. If this juror had been questioned for details about his knowledge of the defendant's reputation, it may have been necessary to discharge the entire jury pool based on what he said, what he knew, what he may have told other prospective jurors, or the tone and manner in which he said he knew of the defendant's reputation that followed him. Such a comment about the defendant's reputation that follows him can have a devastating meaning in the context of a criminal trial. More often than not, it refers to a poor reputation or perhaps even a criminal background as opposed to a favorable reputation. Certainly, it required follow up by counsel and/or the court. This certainly would have been permissible under Rule 24 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure. When a juror indicates such possible prejudice, he should be excused or questioned individually under the guidelines of State v. Ashcraft, 172 W.Va. 640, 309 S.E.2d 600 (1983).

Doing nothing robbed the defendant of a fair trial as well as effective assistance of counsel. In essence, it allowed the jurors to hear a comment about the defendant's reputation in the voir dire process that **WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ALLOWED AS TESTIMONY FROM A WITNESS DURING THE TRIAL ITSELF**. In the Ashcraft, supra case, defense counsel asked the court to inquire individually of four prospective jurors who had indicated that they were either related to or a friend of a law enforcement officer. The court refused. This was reversible error.

Our court, in Ashcraft, supra, has consistently held that a meaningful and effective voir dire of the jury panel is necessary to effectuate the fundamental right to a fair trial by an

impartial and objective jury. Both the gravity of the offense charged and the possibility of prejudice revealed by the initial questioning are to be considered by the court. Both apply in the case at bar requiring reversal.

While Juror McCoy was later struck for cause and did not sit on this jury, even that did not cure the problem. As mentioned, after further exploration of the reputation issue, it is conceivable that Juror McCoy should have been removed from the jury by the court without either side having to strike Juror McCoy for cause. Failure to do so required the defense to use one of his strikes for cause unnecessarily.

### Conclusion

The defendant is guaranteed a fair trial in a criminal case like this. West Virginia Constitution, Article III, Sections 6 and 14, and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. He is guaranteed that counsel will be appointed for him to assist him in his defense if he indeed cannot afford counsel. Since he could not afford counsel in this case, he was eligible for that court-appointed counsel, and the court assigned Attorney Thomas Esposito. While the constitution does not require that the defendant receive the best defense available or that appointed counsel perform as the best defense lawyer, he is entitled under our law to have a defense that is reasonable under the circumstances and his attorney is required to act as a reasonable lawyer would act under the circumstances in his case. This simply did not happen in this case. Instead, court-appointed counsel was ineffective and did not provide this defendant with the type of defense to which he is guaranteed under our constitution. Instead, he failed to question prospective jurors even when it was clear one of them knew of the defendant's reputation (the defendant has prior convictions); he failed to cross-examine **any** of the State's nine witnesses; he failed to question the co-defendant and highlight his past criminal record; he failed to point out or pursue the point that the co-defendant, who was the only person who placed

the defendant at the scene of the crime, admittedly was drunk at the time of the crime; he failed to pin down the time of the crime so that his alibi defense would be much more effective; he failed to pin down the officers on tests and other evidence that might have been available to them if they had been more thorough; he failed to point out that the co-defendant was the only person who placed the defendant at the crime scene; he failed to file a motion for directed verdict at the conclusion of the State's evidence; and he failed to file a motion for directed verdict at the conclusion of all of the evidence. In short, defense counsel failed to act as a reasonable defense lawyer should under the circumstances. The defendant was not provided with a reasonable defense and therefore his conviction should be reversed and he should be given a new trial with a new defense attorney and the opportunity for a fair trial under the terms of our Constitution. These failures by the defense lawyer were significant and present a reasonable possibility that, but for the counsel's unprofessional errors, the result from the proceedings would have been different. See State v. Thomas, 157 W.Va. 640, 203 S.E.2d 445 (1974).

#### **Relief Requested**

The undersigned prays that the conviction in this case be overturned and that he be awarded a new trial in the Circuit Court of Logan County, West Virginia, on the charge of grand larceny set forth in the indictment in this case.