---

NO. 32786

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### **A. THE APPELLANT’S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IS NOT RIPE FOR REVIEW.**

Assignments of error alleging ineffective assistance of counsel are, by necessity, fact intensive. In reviewing an attorney’s performance under the two-pronged test first articulated in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 690 (1984), this Court must first judge the reasonableness of counsel’s conduct within the context of the facts of the case, viewed at the time of the conduct, without the benefit of hindsight. There exists a “strong presumption” that counsel rendered reasonably effective assistance, and counsel is afforded “wide latitude” in making tactical decisions. *Id.* at 689. The Court must also find that counsel’s conduct prejudiced the appellant’s defense. In order to establish prejudice the appellant must prove “a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s

unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Strickland* at 691. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Id.* at 694. An appellate court need not address each issue independently. Once the Court finds that the Appellant has failed to meet his burden of proof on either prong, it need inquire no further.

Oftentimes the most relevant facts, such as trial counsel’s tactical decisions, the atmosphere in the courtroom, the witnesses’s demeanor, the jury’s demeanor, or the existence of evidence not presented to the jury, are not found in the trial transcript. Taking this into account, this Court has repeatedly held that claims of ineffective assistance of counsel generally are not ripe for appellate review. *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 12, 459 S.E.2d 114, 125 (1995). In Syl. pt. 10, *State v. Triplett*, 187 W. Va. 760, 762-763, 421 S.E.2d 511, 513-514 (1992), this Court ruled:

It is the extremely rare case when this Court will find ineffective assistance of counsel when such a charge is raised as an assignment of error on direct appeal. The prudent defense counsel first develops the record regarding ineffective assistance of counsel in a habeas proceeding before a lower court, and may appeal is such relief is denied. This Court may then have a fully developed record on this issue upon which to more thoroughly review an ineffective assistance of counsel claim.

In the case at bar, the Appellant argues *per se* rules of ineffectiveness wholly unsupported by legal or factual citation.<sup>9</sup> He merely recites the *Strickland* test, and then asks this Court to

---

<sup>9</sup>Under certain circumstances an appellate court may presume prejudice without subjecting counsel’s conduct to an individualized inquiry. *See United States v. Cronin*, 466 U.S. 648, 658-662 (1984) (“[t]here are . . . circumstances that are so likely to prejudice the accused that the cost of litigating their effect in a particular case is unjustified.”). The Court has ruled that a complete denial of counsel, or the denial of counsel at a critical stage constitute *per se* violations of a defendant’s right to counsel. *Id.* at 659. Circumstances in which the court has placed counsel in an almost impossible situation, such as appointing counsel on the day of trial, may also fall under the *Cronin* presumption. *Id.* at 659-60.

“If counsel entirely fails to subject the prosecutions case to meaningful adversarial testing, than there has been a denial of Sixth Amendment rights that makes the adversary process itself presumptively unreliable.” *Id.* at 659. *See Moss v. Hofbauer*, 286 F.3d 851, 860-862 (6th Cir. 2002)

speculate, solely from the results of the trial, that counsel's conduct could not have been strategic.<sup>10</sup> This is contrary to the law. *See United States v. Nersesian*, 824 F.2d 1294, 1321 (2d Cir. 1987) (Decisions whether to engage in cross-examination, and if so to what extent and in what manner, are strategic in nature and if reasonably made will not support an ineffective assistance of counsel claim.); *Moss v. Hofbauer*, 286 F.3d 851, 864 (6th Cir. 2002) (Strategic decision not to cross-examine witness after review of the relevant law and facts is "virtually unchallengeable.") (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). As this issue was never presented to the trial court, there is no legal judgment to appeal. *See W. Va. R. Crim. P. 37(a)* (An appellant may only appeal a "judgment, decree or order" of the circuit court.). Also, this Court has yet to hear from defense counsel. Without his testimony the Appellant's supporting facts are insufficient as a matter of law. *State v. Hutchinson*, 215 W. Va. 313, 599 S.E.2d 736 (2004) (*per curiam*) ("Indeed, intelligent

---

(and cases cited therein). This exception is a narrow one. *See Dows v. Wood*, 211 F.3d 480, 485 (9th Cir. 2000) (State court's refusal to presume prejudice from fact that defense counsel may have been suffering from Alzheimer's disease at the time of trial, instead focusing on counsel's performance, consistent with *Cronic*.).

In the case at bar defense counsel was present and attentive during the Appellant's trial. He conducted discovery, presented an effective closing argument to the jury, investigated the case's background leading to one witness--Ms. Cox--who testified that the Appellant's co-defendant had admitted to stealing the four wheeler, and two alibi witnesses who placed him at his house on the evening of the theft. Defense counsel's direct examination of the Appellant's parents was particularly effective. He addressed the issue of bias, instead of leaving it to the State. By getting each witness to concede the obvious fact that neither could have observed the Appellant for the entire night he effectively bolstered their credibility, creating the feeling that these were responsible members of the community who had come to testify truthfully, and not to protect their son. Neither witness was hostile or defensive on cross-examination. Thus, it cannot be said that counsel's performance "was so inadequate that, in effect, no assistance of counsel [was] provided." *Cronic* at 654 n.11.

<sup>10</sup>The Appellant claims that counsel failed to: (1) cross-examine the state's witnesses; (2) failed to properly bolster his alibi defense by establishing the time of the crime; (3) failed to move for a directed verdict at the close of the State's case, and at the close of trial; (4) failed to adequately conduct *voir dire*.

review is rendered impossible because the most significant witness, the trial attorney, has not been given the opportunity to explain the motive and reason behind his or her trial behavior.”) (*quoting Miller*, 194 W. Va. at 12-13, 459 S.E.2d at 125-126); *Dows v. Wood*, 211 F.3d at 487 (Defense counsel’s failure to cross examine majority of State’s witnesses did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, “Moreover counsel’s tactical decisions at trial, such as refraining from cross-examining a particular witness or from asking a particular line of questions, are given great deference, and must similarly meet only objectively reasonable standards.”).

The Appellant contends that trial counsel should have cross-examined the State’s witnesses. While at first blush this may seem reasonable, the Appellant is in no position to tell this Court what specific facts defense counsel would have elicited, from which witness, how he would have elicited these facts, how these facts would have been relevant to the case at bar, or how the Appellant was prejudiced by these facts not coming to light. There is no post-trial record suggesting that any one of the State’s witnesses possessed exculpatory evidence which he or she would have divulged if asked.

Appellant also argues that defense counsel’s failure to cross-examine these witnesses somehow created an impression in the jury’s mind that he believed his client to be guilty. (Appellant’s Brief at 7.) This is speculation based on generalizations--not facts. The facts reveal that the Appellant challenged the State’s case during his case-in-chief, and by an effective closing argument, in which he attacked the State’s witnesses.

The dissent’s position that cross-examination might have led to a different outcome at trial is simply speculative because [the defendant] did not provide any evidence that [the witness] would have testified any differently even if [defense counsel] had cross-examined him. We believe that the dissent’s reliance upon hypotheticals

contradicts *Strickland's* admonition against second-guessing the performance of counsel. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. . . .

. . . Moreover, we disagree with the dissent's implication that the only way to discredit a witness is through cross-examination. Finally, we believe that the dissent fails to take into account the potential risk of having the damaging testimony repeated during cross examination, a risk which could easily outweigh the possibility of identifying weaknesses in the witnesses' account.

*Moss v. Hofbauer*, 286 F.3d at 864-865.

**B. THE APPELLANT'S FACTS DO NOT SUPPORT A FINDING OF INEFFECTIVENESS OF COUNSEL.**

To substantiate his claim the Appellant cites this Court to eight potential grounds of inquiry, which he believes trial counsel should have developed on cross-examination:

Instead, numerous questions could and should have been asked to make certain that the jury was well aware of the role played by each witness, what little they knew about the alleged involvement of the defendant, their failure to gather evidence properly and run tests available on it, for that matter even what tests could have been run, the fact that no individual placed the defendant at the crime scene other than the co-defendant at the time of the crime, pin down exactly when the crime occurred to assist the defendant in his alibi, question the co-defendant as to his own criminal record so that the jury would know that the co-defendant had a prior criminal record when considering his testimony (See Rule 609(a)(2)(A) of the *West Virginia Rules of Evidence*), objected and required the prosecution to make the witnesses testify from their own knowledge as opposed to being led through the case by the prosecution, and question prospective jurors in a voir dire process . . . .

(Appellant's Brief at 7.)

This list of possibilities falls far short of the Appellant's burden of proof. Every attorney viewing a cold transcript, with the benefit of hindsight, may find some fault in the best attorney's trial performance. That is not the point: Indeed, it is this sort of generalized second-guessing which *Strickland* expressly prohibits. The information which the Appellant claims was not properly developed by cross-examination was squarely before the jury when they made their decision.

Each witness testified to his or her knowledge regarding the Appellant's role in the theft. The Appellant's co-defendant admitted that he was drunk that evening,<sup>11</sup> that he drove the jeep away from the victim's house after the Appellant had loaded the tires, that he had taken these tires to the Appellant's house. Evidence of his potential bias was also before the jury. The co-defendant testified that he had struck a plea-agreement with the State in which he pled to grand larceny, and in return for his testimony the State would not oppose probation.<sup>12</sup> (Trial Tr. Vol. I 97, 98, 99, 101, 103, 108-10.) Indeed, on direct examination the co-defendant stated that he had agreed to cooperate in hopes of receiving probation. (Trial Tr. Vol. I 110.)

The Appellant claims, "While some might argue that it is strategy, no reasonable attorney would agree especially when the co-defendant was the *only* witness who placed the defendant at the crime scene." (Appellant's Brief at 5.) Appellant omits the exchange the Appellant's counsel had with the court immediately after Mr. Field's testimony:

THE COURT:           Mr. Esposito?

---

<sup>11</sup>The co-defendant testified no less than three times on direct that he was drunk that evening.

<sup>12</sup>The Appellant claims that the co-defendant had a prior criminal history which would have been admissible under Rule 609(a)(2)(A), W. Va. R. Evid. Apart from his guilty plea, there is no evidence from the record that the co-defendant had any prior convictions. Instead of making assertions from vague facts culled from the record, the Appellant is now asking this Court to infer something that is not contained in the record.

The Appellant's pre-sentence report, including his criminal history, is part of the record. It includes a 1994 arrest for breaking and entering and grand larceny, a 1996 arrest for malicious assault and accomplice to malicious assault, and a 1996 arrest for giving false information to a State Trooper. (R. 80.)

The Appellant's unsupported allegations constitute an improper attempt to amend the Appellate record. The Appellee respectfully requests that any cites to the co-defendant's alleged prior convictions not contained in the designated record be stricken from the Appellant's brief. *Napoleon S. v. Walker*, 2005 WL 1384090 (2005) (Maynard, J., dissenting.)

MR. ESPOSITO: Could I have like 30 seconds in the hallway?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. ESPOSITO: I promise 30 seconds.

(Recess)

MR. ESPOSITO: I don't have any questions for [the co-defendant], but I may call him. But I don't have any questions for him at this time.

(Trial Tr. Vol. I 112.)

The record suggests that defense counsel weighed the pros and cons of cross-examination, and chose to wait until his case-in-chief. His conduct suggests that his decision was tactical. Since the Appellant has not developed the record, this Court has no evidence before it as to what occurred during this recess. Therefore, the Appellant has failed to overcome the strong presumption of competence as a matter of law. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689.

The record clearly established that the State had no physical evidence connecting the Appellant to the crime scene. Trooper Pursley photographed the scene, and preserved some evidence for fingerprint and DNA analysis. (Trial Tr. Vol. I 58.) The jury heard that this evidence was never submitted to the crime lab. In his summation, defense counsel emphasized this fact. (Trial Tr. Vol. II 82.)

The Appellant claims that defense counsel should have nailed down the time of the incident in order to bolster his alibi defense. The co-defendant provided the only evidence on this issue. He claimed that they went to the victim's house late that night or early the next morning. (Trial Tr. Vol. I 97.) The Appellant has not presented this Court with any concrete evidence suggesting that cross-examination of any of the State's witnesses would have "pinned down" the exact time of the

theft. Nor has he suggested the existence of other witnesses who could identify when the theft took place.

Next, the Appellant argues that trial counsel explicitly permitted counsel for the State to improperly lead the co-defendant.<sup>13</sup> During direct examination of the co-defendant, the following exchange occurred:

Q: Were you given a plea agreement by the State?

A: No, sir.

Q: When I say given a plea agreement, when you entered . . . .

A: Oh, yes. I pled guilty, yes.

Q: You pled guilty to what?

A: Grand larceny.

Q: As part of that, though, you got some consideration from the State in order to cooperate; is that right?

A: I don't know until the 29th of next month.

Q: Well, you're getting where I'm going. What's going to happen to you for cooperating?

A: I don't know anything yet. I got a plea for probation.

Q: Well, let me ask you this. When you say you don't know until the 29th, what are you talking about? You know what the sentence you're facing?

A: Grand Larceny.

---

<sup>13</sup>The Appellant complains, in general, about the prosecutor's use of leading questions. Since this is the only example he has quoted from the record, the Appellee contends that he has waived this objection to any of the State's other questions. *State v. LaRock*, 196 W. Va. 294, 302, 470 S.E.2d 613, 621 (1996) (Issues which are not raised, and those mentioned only in passing, but are not supported by pertinent authority, are not considered on appeal.).

Q: You plead to a felony?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: What are you saying you don't know until the 29th, explain that?

A: I don't know. I haven't been sentenced or nothing until the 29th of next month.

Q: So, did the State give you that they would not object to you getting an alternative sentence?

A: No.

Q: An alternative sentence is probation?

A: Yeah, Probation. Yeah.

MR. ESPOSITO: I'm not going to object to him leading him. Just go ahead and tell him what you want him to say.

(Trial Tr. Vol. I 108-09.)

In *State v. Fairchild*, 171 W. Va. 137, 150, 298 S.E.2d 110, 124 (1982), this Court ruled,

As a general rule, the use of leading questions is not permitted on direct examination. See, e.g., *Hendricks v. Monoghalia West Penn. Service Co.*, 111 W. Va. 576, 163 S.E. 411 (1932). However there are numerous exceptions to the general rule, see F. Cleckley, *Handbook on Evidence for West Virginia Lawyers*, supra 55-56, and the allowance of leading questions is largely in the discretion of the trial court. *State v. Davis*, 139 W. Va. 645, 81 S.E.2d 95 (1954).

By permitting counsel for the State to lead the witness, defense counsel accomplished two things: First, by phrasing his objection as "Just go ahead and tell him what *you* want him to say" (Trial Tr. Vol. I 109, emphasis added), he left the jury with the impression that the State had rehearsed this witness, who had forgotten his lines, or that the prosecution was not above putting words into his mouth; secondly, the Appellant was able to crystalize what must have been a growing sense of exasperation on the part of every person in that courtroom. He let the prosecutor go on just

long enough to look foolish, and then he cut him off. His tactical decision cannot be described as objectively unreasonable. The terms and conditions of the co-defendant's plea agreement were a matter of record and benefitted the Appellant. Counsel had no reason to object to leading questions on this specific topic.

Appellant then argues that counsel did not effectively participate in voir dire. Specifically, he faults counsel for not questioning the jury, and for not providing a list of questions to the judge. Of course, there is no evidence to support the latter accusation. As to the former, the Appellant has failed to present this Court with any evidence suggesting that had defense counsel voir dired the panel, it would have made any difference. There is no evidence that any of the jurors picked to serve were incompetent. The court conducted a thorough voir dire of the panel in which several jurors revealed pre-existing relationships with certain people involved in the trial. The court struck these jurors from the panel. (Trial Tr. Vol. I 5-18, 19.)

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